THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Special Circuit Court Judge

Lower Case No. 2011-CP-40-07432  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000398

William E. DeLoache, III  
and Allison H. DeLoache. . . . . Appellants,

vs.

William Dixon Robertson, III; W. Jefferson Leath, Jr.;  
Michael S. Seekings; LEATH, BOUCH & CRAWFORD, LLP;  
Francis E. Grimboll; MULLEN WYLIE, LLC formerly  
MULLEN, WYLIE & SEEKINGS, LLC; William M. Bowen;  
WILLIAM M. BOWEN, PA; and John D. Kassel . . . . . Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

**RECEIVED**

MAY 02 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether Appellants' Verified Complaint states facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action based on Respondents'<sup>1</sup> unauthorized use of Appellants' names as "class member - objectors" in a nationwide class-action lawsuit pending in Tennessee without consulting with Appellants and without their knowledge, consent, or permission.
- II. Whether Appellants' Verified Complaint states facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for Wrongful Appropriation of Personality when it alleged Respondents appropriated Appellants' names to obtain legal fees that were allocated between Respondents without consulting with Appellants and without their knowledge, consent, or permission.
- III. Whether it was error for the trial court to dismiss Appellants' Verified Complaint on the grounds that it did not properly allege facts establishing damages to Appellants when the Wrongful Appropriation of Personality tort in South Carolina does not require proof of actual damages because of the presumption of damages if someone infringes another's right to control their identity.
- IV. Whether it was error for the trial court to dismiss Appellants' Verified Complaint on the grounds that it did not properly allege facts establishing damages to Appellants when the Verified Complaint did, in fact, contain specific allegations of damages.
- V. Whether the commercial value to Respondents that was associated with the

---

<sup>1</sup> Except for Respondent Kassel who was not alleged to have been involved directly in the nationwide class-action activities, but who was alleged to have violated other duties to Appellants.

Appellants' names and personal information did not come from a certain notoriety or popularity attached to the DeLoache name, but instead came from the value of having names and personal information as alleged owners of a home with Dryvit EIFS, which was required in order for the Respondents to appear as counsel for parties with Dryvit EIFS allegedly on their home providing standing to allow them to participate as alleged class members the *Posey* nationwide class action that was pending in Tennessee.

- VI. Whether it was error for the trial court to grant Respondents' motions to dismiss on the grounds that Appellants' Verified Complaint did not contain an expert affidavit pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. §15-36-100 when the Verified Complaint did not state facts in support or assert any causes of action for professional negligence; did not allege that any of the Respondents were negligent, made a mistake, or other accidental error; but did specifically allege facts supporting *intentional* torts.
- VII. Whether it was error for the trial court to grant Respondents' motions to dismiss on the grounds that Appellants' Verified Complaint did not contain an expert affidavit pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. §15-36-100 when the claims asserted in the Verified Complaint were within the "common knowledge and experience" such that no special learning is needed to evaluate the conduct of the Respondents.
- VIII. Whether it is common knowledge that lawyers such as Respondent Kassel are not allowed to disclose prospective clients' confidential information.
- IX. Whether it is common knowledge that lawyers are not allowed to use someone's name in any lawsuit to get fees unless that person has hired the lawyer and given permission for such use.

- X. Whether it was error for the trial court to grant Respondents' motions to dismiss on the grounds that Appellants' Verified Complaint did not contain an expert affidavit pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. §15-36-100 when the claims asserted in the Verified Complaint against Respondents arose prior to the July 1, 2005, the effective date of S.C. CODE ANN. §15-36-100.
- XI. Whether Appellants owned an interest in the property rights associated with their personality, including the use of their surname in legal proceedings.
- XII. Whether the factual allegations in the Verified Complaint support a claim that the Respondent class action lawyers and law firms converted Appellants' intangible property rights.
- XIII. Whether the facts pled in the Verified Complaint, taken as true, were sufficient to maintain Appellants' causes of action for wrongful appropriation personality, conversion, civil conspiracy, constructive trust, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of duty of confidentiality, and injunctive relief.
- XIV. Whether the Verified Complaint states facts sufficient to assert a cause of action against Respondent Kassel for an independent tort for breach of the duty of confidentiality.
- XV. Whether it was error for the trial court to refuse to allow Appellants to file an Amended Complaint when it granted Respondents' motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP.
- XVI. Whether it was error for the trial court to grant the Leath Respondents' motion to strike the "Summary of the Case" allegations in ¶¶ 1 - 3 in the Verified Complaint when those allegations included for the convenience of the reader simply

“summarized” the remaining allegations, independently stated causes of action against all Respondents, and were not “redundant, immaterial, impertinent or scandalous.”

XVII. Whether it was error for the trial court to delay—for more than 18 months—issuing its Orders ruling on Respondents’ motions to dismiss and to strike.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 1, 2011, Appellants filed their twenty-four (24) page Verified Complaint against Respondents containing eight (8) pages of factual allegations and asserting claims for 1) Wrongful Appropriation of Personality, 2) Conversion, 3) Civil Conspiracy, 4) Constructive Trust; 5) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, 6) Breach of Duty of Confidentiality, and 7) Injunctive Relief. (Complaint; R \_\_\_\_). Respondents accepted service between November 15, 2011 and January 13, 2012. Respondent Kassel filed a Motion to Dismiss on December 15, 2012. On January 17, 2012, Respondent Robertson filed an Answer and served Appellants with discovery requests. On January 18, 2012, Respondent Bowen and WILLIAM M. BOWEN, PA (collectively “Bowen”) filed an Answer and served Appellants with discovery requests. On January 20, 2012, Respondents Leath, Seekings and LEATH BOUCH AND CRAWFORD, LLP (collectively “LEATH”) filed a Motion to Dismiss and/or Motion to Strike Pleadings. On January 23, 2012, Respondent Bowen filed an Amended Answer and a Motion to Dismiss. Two days later, on January 25, 2012, Respondent Bowen served discovery requests on Appellants. On February 16, 2012, Respondent Robertson filed a Motion to Dismiss. On March 13, 2012, Respondents Grimball and MULLEN WYLIE, LLC also filed a Motion to Dismiss.

On May 1, 2012, Appellants served discovery requests on Respondents and shortly

thereafter, on May 16, 2012, Respondent Kassel filed a Motion to Stay Discovery. On May 31, 2012, Respondents LEATH filed a Motion to Stay Discovery.

On June 6, 2013, the first of two hearing was held in the Richland County Judicial Center before The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland. During the hearing, Appellants provided the court and counsel for Respondents with a "Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss." (Memorandum in Opposition to Motions to Dismiss, dated June 5, 2012, R \_\_\_\_). During the hearing counsel for Respondents provided the trial court and counsel for Appellants with a document entitled "Selected Documents for Reference During Hearing on Defendants' Motions to Dismiss." During the hearing the trial court questioned counsel for Respondents several times as to whether the positions raised by their motions would be more appropriate for summary judgment rather than motions to dismiss. (Pendarvis letter to Judge Strickland, dated February 15, 2013, R \_\_\_\_). At the conclusion of the first hearing the trial court indicated that he was taking under advisement the Respondents' motions and Appellants' arguments in opposition and also requesting counsel for the parties to submit proposed Orders. (Pendarvis letter to Judge Strickland, dated February 15, 2013, R \_\_\_\_). Counsel for Appellants agreed to stay discovery while the trial court had the motions under advisement. (Pendarvis letter to Judge Strickland, dated February 15, 2013, R \_\_\_\_). Counsel for the respective parties submitted proposed Orders during July 2012.

By February 2013, approximately eight months had gone by without any ruling on Respondents motions and without any discovery taking place to prepare the matter for trial. Given the trial court's statements about summary judgment possibly being more appropriate than motions to dismiss, it appeared the trial court was not inclined to grant

Respondents' motions. On February 12, 2013, Appellants served Notices of Depositions on Respondents and Subpoenas for documents, which was followed shortly thereafter with Respondents' Motions for Protective Orders and Motions to Quash the Subpoenas.

On April 5, 2013, Appellants filed a Motion to Compel Discovery. (Motion to Compel Discovery, R \_\_\_\_).

On June 10, 2013, the second hearing was held before the trial court ostensibly on the discovery motions. (Hearing Transcript, June 10, 2013, R \_\_\_\_). Early on in the second hearing it was acknowledged by counsel for all parties that the basis for the discovery motions was the trial court's delay for over one year on issuing a ruling on Respondents' motions to dismiss and strike. (Hearing Transcript, June 10, 2013, R \_\_\_\_). At the conclusion of the very short hearing on June 10, 2013, the trial court indicated that it would be issuing its ruling on Respondents' motions to dismiss and strike by the end of the week. (Hearing Transcript, June 10, 2013, R \_\_\_\_).

On June 14, 2013, the trial court sent correspondence to counsel for all parties advising of its' intent to grant Respondents' motions to dismiss, directing counsel for Respondents to "submit SCRCP Form 4-C, Judgment in a Civil Case," and that it was "continuing to review proposed orders already submitted by the parties and will expedite formal orders." (Judge Strickland letter to counsel dated June 14, 2013, R \_\_\_\_).

On June 17, 2013, counsel for Appellants sent a letter to the trial court respectfully asking it to reconsider its ruling and providing for consideration a copy of an Order issued by another trial court in related litigation. (Pendarvis letter dated June 17, 2013, R \_\_\_\_).

Also on June 17, 2013, Respondents submitted to the trial court the "SCRCP Form 4-C, Judgment in a Civil Case" forms as directed. On June 20, 2013, counsel for Appellants

sent a second letter to the trial court again respectfully asking it to reconsider its ruling and emphasizing that because no professional negligence claims were asserted in the Verified Complaint, no expert affidavit was required, and that even if professional negligence claims had been asserted, reminding the trial court of the applicability of the "common knowledge" exception to "S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-36-100, which governs the requirement for expert affidavits in professional *negligence* matters." (Pendarvis letter dated June 20, 2013, R \_\_\_\_).

On September 4, 2013, some three months after the second hearing, more than fifteen months after the first hearing, and more than twenty-two months after the Verified Complaint had been filed, counsel for Appellants sent a letter to the trial court respectfully asking about the status of the trial court's rulings on the pending motions. (Pendarvis letter dated September 4, 2013, R \_\_\_\_).

On September 11, 2013, counsel for Appellants sent a letter to the trial court again asking it to deny the motions and apprising the court of a significant development.

Enclosed with the September 11 letter was

a copy of a Complaint filed by the LEATH BOUCH Defendants offensively invoking Rule 1.5(e), RPC to support their claim that another lawyer is not entitled to his share of the fees because, in their words, the "Clients here never approved of the participation of [the other lawyer]." Their claim is virtually identical to what happened to DeLoaches as stated in their Verified Complaint in this matter. (Summary of the Case - "The Defendant class action lawyers . . . never communicated with the DeLoaches to report on their representation, or to advise that over \$600,000 in funds had been obtained as a result of their activities, or to seek to obtain their consent for the apportionment of 'fees' between counsel in different firms.") It is remarkable that the LEATH BOUCH Defendants also did not include a lawyer's affidavit of merit with the Complaint even though they are suing a lawyer.

(Pendarvis letter dated September 11, 2013, R \_\_\_\_).

On September 24, 2013, again after more than three months after the second hearing, almost sixteen months after the first hearing, and almost twenty-three months after the Verified Complaint had been filed, Appellants filed a Request to Transfer to Jury Trial Roster. (Request to Transfer to Jury Trial Roster, R \_\_\_\_).

On October 24, 2013, The Honorable Judge Joseph M. Strickland signed—but did not issue—an Order granting Respondents' Motions to Dismiss (Order I) and an Order granting Respondent Kassel's Motion to Dismiss (Order II). (Order granting other Respondents' Motions to Dismiss, R \_\_\_\_); (Order granting Respondent Kassel's Motion to Dismiss, R \_\_\_\_). Order I dismissed all of Appellants' claims against all of the Respondents (except Respondent Kassel) in their entirety finding "(1) [Appellants] have not alleged an injury-in-fact and therefore lack standing to maintain their claims; (2) [Appellants] have failed to state facts sufficient to establish a cause of action for ( a) wrongful appropriation of personality, (b) conversion, (c) civil conspiracy, (d) constructive trust, (e) breach of fiduciary duty, or (f) injunctive relief; and (3) [Appellants] failed to file an Affidavit of a duly qualified expert contemporaneous with their Complaint." (Order I at p. 5). Order I also granted the Leath Respondents' motion to strike the "Summary of the Case" allegations in ¶¶ 1-3 of the Verified Complaint. Order II dismissed all of Appellants' claims against Respondent Kassel, which were Plaintiffs' Sixth Cause of Action for Breach of the Duty of Confidentiality and the Seventh Cause of Action for Injunctive Relief, based on "for failure by [Appellants] to attach an expert affidavit to their Complaint as required by S.C. Code §15-36-100." (Order II at p. 4).

Prior to being served with the trial court's Orders, Appellants filed an Amended Request to Transfer to Jury Trial Roster on November 5, 2013. (Amended Request to Transfer to Jury Trial Roster, R \_\_\_\_). On November 7, 2013, counsel for Appellants received a copy of both Orders granting Respondents' motions to dismiss.

On November 18, 2013, Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgments Granting Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. (Motion to Alter or Amend Judgments, R \_\_\_\_). On December 9, 2013, all Respondents except for Respondent Kassel filed a Return to Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend. On February 11, 2014, The Honorable Judge Joseph M. Strickland issued an Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, which was received by counsel for Appellants on February 21, 2014. (Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend, R \_\_\_\_). On February 18, 2014, Respondent Kassel filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter or Amend. On February 26, 2014, notice of this Appeal was timely filed.

### FACTS

In August 2002, a group of South Carolina lawyers formed a joint venture in an effort to represent a class of South Carolina clients whose homes were damaged by a synthetic stucco building material known as "Dryvit Exterior Insulating and Finishing Systems" (Dryvit EIFS). (Verified Complaint at ¶¶ 24, 33, R \_\_\_\_). These lawyers and law firms<sup>2</sup> filed a lawsuit and an expedited motion to certify the South Carolina class in order to protect South

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondents William Dixon Robertson, III; W. Jefferson Leath, Jr.; Michael S. Seekings; LEATH, BOUCH & CRAWFORD, LLP; Francis E. Grimbali; MULLEN WYLIE, LLC formerly MULLEN, WYLIE & SEEKINGS, LLC; William M. Bowen; and WILLIAM M. BOWEN, PA will be referred to collectively as the "Respondent class-action lawyers and law firms."

Carolínians from being included in what was viewed as an unfavorable settlement that had been preliminarily approved in nationwide class action pending in Tennessee. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 24, R \_\_\_\_). On August 30, 2002, a Beaufort County judge certified the South Carolina class in a case originally styled *Cardamone, et al. v. Dryvit Systems, Inc., et al.*, Civil Action No. 2002-CP-07-1377 (*Cardamone*).

The Respondent class action lawyers and law firms, notwithstanding the existence of the South Carolina certified class that they had caused to be created in *Cardamone*, decided to file an objection to the settlement in the Tennessee class action lawsuit styled as *Posey v. Dryvit Systems, Inc. (Posey)*. In order to do so, the Respondent class action lawyers and law firms needed a South Carolina resident with Dryvit synthetic stucco materials on their residence with standing to serve as an objector.

Earlier, around or before July 2002, Appellants William E. DeLoache, III and Allison H. DeLoache (the DeLoaches) contacted Respondent John D. Kassel (Kassel) with regard to possibly retaining him as their lawyer to pursue claims related to problems they were experiencing with synthetic stucco, including the possibility of participating in the *Posey* settlement. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 14, R \_\_\_\_). The DeLoaches communicated confidential, personal information, pictures, an inspection report and similar information to Kassel. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 15, R \_\_\_\_). Kassel advised the DeLoaches against participating in the *Posey* class settlement and asked them to pick up their documents. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 16, R \_\_\_\_). The DeLoaches retrieved their documents and did not retain Kassel as their lawyer. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 17, R \_\_\_\_). The DeLoaches did not authorize Kassel to represent them in any legal matter, engage or associate any other lawyer on their behalf, to reveal to anyone any of their privileged communications, or to

reveal to anyone any information about their potential case or about their consideration of whether to have any involvement in the *Posey* matter, the *Posey* settlement, or their stucco claims. (Verified Complaint at ¶¶ 18-22, R \_\_\_\_).

According to an affidavit filed much later by Respondent William Dixon Robertson, III (Robertson), Kassel disclosed to Robertson the DeLoaches' names and confidential information during a telephone conversation on September 3, 2002. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 32, R \_\_\_\_). Notwithstanding having never having any communication with or being engaged by the DeLoaches to serve as their counsel, on September 24, 2002, the Respondent class action lawyers and law firms filed a motion to appear *pro hoc vice* and also filed an objection in the *Posey* case "on behalf of Allison DeLoache and William DeLoache." (Verified Complaint at ¶ 26, 34, R \_\_\_\_).

The DeLoaches never engaged the Respondent class action lawyers and law firms on any matter or ever entered into a fee agreement with them. (Verified Complaint at ¶¶ 46-47, R \_\_\_\_).

Again with no authority to represent the DeLoaches, on October 1, 2002, Respondents Frances E. Grimball (Grimball) and Robertson, as well as another lawyer appeared at a Fairness Hearing in the *Posey* court and told that court that they represented the DeLoaches, would be filing affidavits on behalf of the DeLoaches, and that the DeLoaches could satisfy all criteria to have standing to object to the proposed settlement in *Posey*. (Verified Complaint at ¶ 26, 35-36, R \_\_\_\_).

As a direct result of using the DeLoaches' names as objectors in *Posey*, the Respondent class action lawyers and law firms later reached an agreement with Dryvit Systems and plaintiffs' class counsel in *Posey* whereby they would be paid a total of

\$825,000 to make no further objections in the *Posey* matter and to obtain a final dismissal with prejudice of *Cardamone*, the South Carolina class action where they were class counsel. (Verified Complaint at Summary of the Case and ¶¶ 41-44, R \_\_\_\_). In fact, \$600,000 of the \$825,000 has already been paid. (Verified Complaint at Summary of the Case and ¶ 44, R \_\_\_\_).

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