THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Special Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2011-CP-40-07432  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000398

---

William E. DeLoache, III and Allison H. DeLoache, ..... Appellants,

v.

William Dixon Robertson, III; W. Jefferson Leath, Jr.;  
Michael S. Seekings; Leath, Bouch & Crawford, LLP;  
Francis E. Grimball; Mullen Wylie, LLC formerly  
Mullen, Wylie & Seekings, LLC; William M. Bowen;  
William M. Bowen, P.A.; and John D. Kassel ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JOHN D. KASSEL**

---

Amy L. B. Hill, S.C. Bar No. 68541

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly found that Appellants were required to file an expert affidavit at the time of the filing of their Complaint.**

*Appellants' claims against Respondent Kassel fall within the parameters of S.C. Code § 15-36-100.*

Appellants' Complaint against Respondent Kassel alleges that he violated a duty of confidentiality owed to Appellants. This is incorrect. Simply put, a lay person does not owe another lay person a duty of confidentiality. With some nuanced exceptions, such a duty only arises in a professional setting. But for the fact that Respondent Kassel is a practicing attorney, Appellants would have no ability to claim that they are owed a duty of confidentiality by Respondent Kassel.

A "plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis of each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(B) (Supp. 2013). Section 15-36-100 includes attorneys in the list of professionals for whom a plaintiff must file an expert affidavit with their complaint alleging professional malpractice. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(G). Despite the clear requirements of § 15-36-100, Appellants failed to file an expert affidavit with their Complaint.

Appellants claim that because they did not formally engage Respondent Kassel, there can be no legal malpractice claim and thus no expert affidavit requirement. However, this argument is without merit as it pertains to Section 15-36-100. Either there was some type of professional relationship between Appellants and Respondent Kassel and thus a

duty of confidentiality existed, or there is no duty of confidentiality because there is no relationship between Appellants and Respondent Kassel. Appellants cannot have it both ways.

Appellants also claim that to require an expert affidavit in this case would expand the rule to require an expert affidavit in any action against an attorney. That is simply not the case. Appellants have not alleged just any action against Respondent Kassel. Rather they have alleged that he breached his duty of confidentiality. Appellants claim Respondent Kassel owed them a duty of confidentiality *because* he is an attorney.<sup>5</sup> Regardless of the labels that Appellants attempt to apply to this case, it is a legal malpractice case whereby Appellants claim that Respondent Kassel breached a duty that is owed only as a result of a relationship between a client and an attorney.<sup>6</sup>

Appellants contend that their claim for breach of fiduciary duty is an intentional tort and therefore does not fall into the ambit of § 15-36-100, which only applies to professional negligence claims. There are no allegations that Respondent Kassel committed an intentional tort. "Failure to exercise due care, not intent, is the critical element in negligence." *Snakenberg v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., Inc.*, 299 S.C. 164, 173, 383 S.E.2d 2, 7 (Ct.App. 1989). The fact that an actor may knowingly act does not make an act an intentional tort. "Intent" is a state of mind about the consequences of the act.

---

<sup>5</sup>Appellants draw distinctions between a breach of fiduciary duty claim and a legal malpractice claim in their brief. However, these arguments do not apply to Respondent Kassel since he was not included in the fiduciary duty claim.

<sup>6</sup> In the civil cover sheet form Appellants filed with their Complaint, they classify this case as a conversion action. This is curious because, by all accounts, Respondent Kassel has received no benefit that could arguably belong to Appellants. There is no allegation in the Complaint that Respondent Kassel converted anything owned by Appellants to his own use.

*Peay v. U.S. Silica Co.*, 313 S.C. 91, 93, 437 S.E.2d 64, 65 (1993). See also W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton & D. Owen, *Prosser & Keeton on the Law of Torts*, § 8 (5th ed. 1984 & Supp. 1998). As discussed previously, even assuming Respondent Kassel breached his duty of confidentiality, there are no allegations that Respondent Kassel could have foreseen that the Class Action Respondents would have allegedly claimed to represent Appellants in a class action in Tennessee without Appellants' knowledge and approval. Even assuming, as Appellants have alleged, that Respondent Kassel intentionally disclosed Appellants' confidential information, this act alone does not qualify as an intentional tort.

In the recent case of *H & H of Johnston, LLC v. Old Republic National Title Ins. Co.*, this court found that despite the attempts by plaintiff to classify an action as a breach of contract, the matter was still one of professional negligence because the attorney was acting as an attorney at a real estate closing. 405 S.C. 469, 474, 748 S.E.2d 72, 74 (Ct.App. 2013). Thus, the case fell within Section 15-36-100, and failure to file an expert affidavit was grounds for dismissal. *Id.* Similarly, pursuant to the allegations against him, Respondent Kassel was acting as an attorney, and therefore Appellants were required to file an expert affidavit.

Appellants have essentially alleged a breach of the exercise of due care by Respondent Kassel. A defendant's failure to exercise due care falls within a negligence cause of action. *Id.* Simply because a defendant had to make an affirmative act in order to breach a standard of due care, it does not make that alleged breach an intentional tort. The claims against Respondent Kassel are professional negligence claims, and therefore, the requirements of Section 15-36-100 apply.

*Appellants' claims arose in 2009 when Appellants claim they learned of their involvement in the Tennessee action, and therefore, the requirements of Section 15-36-100 apply to their claims.*

Section 15-36-100 applies to all claims arising after the date of its enactment, July 1, 2005. See 2005 Act. No. 32, §4, eff. July 1, 2005. Thus, this statute applies to Appellants' claims because they allege in their Complaint that their claims arose in 2009.<sup>7</sup> A claim arises when a plaintiff's right to sue comes into existence. *Murphy v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp.*, 356 S.C. 592, 597-598, 590 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2003) (citing *Stephens v. Draffin*, 327 S.C. 1, 488 S.E.2d 307 (1997)). Viewing Appellants' allegations in a light most favorable to Appellants, their claim arose in 2009 when they discovered their involvement in the Tennessee case, which they claim occurred without their knowledge. If, in fact, Appellants' claims arose in 2002, when Appellants claim Respondent Kassel breached his duty of confidentiality, their claims would be barred by the applicable three-year statute of limitations.

This court decided similar issues in *Johnson v. Phifer*. 309 S.C. 505, 424 S.E.2d 532 (Ct.App. 1992). In that case, the plaintiff claimed dental malpractice based on dental work performed between 1974 and 1977, yet plaintiff claimed she was not aware of the negligence until 1987, and she did not file suit until 1990. This court held that the claims arose at the time the negligence was discovered in 1987, and thus, the statute of repose, which was not in place in 1977, applied to plaintiff's lawsuit. Like the instant case, plaintiff argued that her claim accrued at two separate times: 1) in 1977 to avoid the statute of

---

<sup>7</sup> Respondent Kassel would argue that Appellants' claims still have not arisen because they have suffered no discernable damages. However, accepting Appellants' claim of damages as true for purposes of this discussion, Appellants' claims arose in 2009.

repose; and 2) in 1987 to avoid the shorter statute of limitations period. This court did not accept plaintiff's argument and based its decision on the discovery rule finding the claim arose when plaintiff discovered the negligence.

Accepting the allegations in the light most favorable to Appellants, their claims arose in 2009 upon their alleged discovery of their involvement in the Tennessee class action. As a result, the requirements of Section 15-36-100 apply.

Appellants cite *Williamson v. South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund* for the proposition that the Tort Claims Act does not apply to a plaintiff's claims because the claims accrued or arose prior to the effective date of the Act. 355 S.C. 420, 426, 586 S.E.2d 115, 118 (2003). The *Williamson* case involved allegations of medical malpractice during delivery, which resulted in severe defects of the baby. *Id.* Although the opinion does not specify, it appears based on the allegations that the claims were readily apparent at the birth or shortly thereafter. The Tort Claims Act was enacted approximately five months after the birth, and the plaintiffs filed the lawsuit approximately four months after the enactment. *Id.* The plaintiffs were aware of the negligence due to the defects that were apparent shortly after the baby's birth and prior to the enactment of the Tort Claims Act, and thus, based on the discovery rule, plaintiffs' claims arose before enactment.

Accepting Appellants' facts in the light most favorable to Appellants, their claims did not arise until 2009, three-and-a-half years after enactment of Section 15-36-100. Appellants' claims arose after the enactment of Section 15-36-100, and therefore Appellants are required to file an expert affidavit with their complaint.

*A duty of confidentiality to a potential client is not common knowledge.*

A lay person would not likely be aware that an attorney owes a duty of confidentiality to clients, much less to potential clients such as the Appellants. While there are many complaints about our litigious society, in reality very few people have detailed interactions with attorneys other than a possible real estate closing. Even fewer members of society appreciate the nuanced and detailed rules that govern the legal profession. The requirement of confidentiality owed to potential clients is not common knowledge. In fact, the duty of confidentiality to potential clients was not documented in a professional responsibility rule in South Carolina until 2005, three years after Respondent Kassel's alleged breach. See Rule 1.18, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. The duty of confidentiality to potential clients as it existed in 2002 was something less than Rule 1.18. Thus, the standard of care as it existed in 2002 is not common knowledge, does not qualify for the common knowledge exception to the statute, and must be established by expert testimony.

As this court found in *Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, OSHA requirements setting forth the standard of care for professional engineers are not matters of common knowledge, and expert testimony is necessary to determine whether the defendant acted negligently. 351 S.C. 459, 475, 570 S.E.2d 197, 205 (Ct. App. 2002). Similarly, the standard of care for an attorney must be established by expert testimony and is not common knowledge. Appellants cannot avoid the requirement to file an expert affidavit in this matter by claiming the common knowledge exception.

*Appellants have not produced an expert in this case.*

Importantly, Appellants have never provided the name of a potential expert, and at this point, it is too late. Almost three years have passed since Appellants filed this action,

yet as of today's date, Appellants have not named an expert to support their allegations of wrongdoing by Respondents. Rather than produce an expert, Appellants argue the technicalities of whether an expert affidavit is required. At this point, the statute of limitations has run from the date of Appellants' alleged discovery in 2009. Pursuant to Section 15-36-100(F)<sup>8</sup>, Appellants' failure to file an expert affidavit does not toll the statute of limitations during the pendency of this action. As a result, Appellants' claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

Appellants will need an expert witness at trial. In the very recent case of *Holmes v. Haynsworth, Sinkler & Boyd, P.A.*, Op. No. 27395 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 4, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 22), the Supreme Court again noted the requirement of expert testimony to prove a legal malpractice case. "With respect to a legal malpractice claim, a claimant must rely on expert testimony to 'establish both the standard of care and the deviation by the defendant from such standard.'" *Id.* (citing *Gilliland v. Elmwood Props.*, 301 S.C. 295, 301, 391 S.E. 2d 577, 580 (1990); *Smith v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Geurard*, 322 S.C. 433, 435, 472 S.E.2d 612, 613 (1996); *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 174, 561 S.E.2d 654, 657 (Ct.App. 2002)). The fact that Appellants have been unable or unwilling to name an expert is fatal to their request for relief from this court.

---

<sup>8</sup> Section 15-36-100(F) provides, in pertinent part, "if a plaintiff fails to file an affidavit as required by this section, and the defendant raises the failure to file an affidavit by motion to dismiss filed contemporaneously with its initial responsive pleading, the complaint is not subject to renewal after the expiration of the applicable period of limitation unless a court determines that the plaintiff had the requisite affidavit within the time required pursuant to this section and the failure to file the affidavit is the result of a mistake..."

Appellants have failed to produce an expert affidavit supporting their Complaint as required by Section 15-36-100 and for that reason, this court should affirm the order of the trial court.

**II. The trial court properly found that Appellants failed to establish proximate cause.**

“The touchstone of proximate cause in South Carolina is foreseeability.” *Mellen v. Lane*, 377 S.C. 261, 279, 659 S.E.2d 236, 246 (Ct.App. 2008) (citing *Young v. Tide Craft*, 270 S.C. 453, 462, 242 S.E.2d 671 (1978)). “Foreseeability of some injury from an act or omission is a prerequisite to its being a proximate cause of injury for which recovery is sought.” *Kennedy v. Carter*, 249 SC 168, 153 S.E.2d 312 (1967).

Even viewing Appellants’ claims against Respondent Kassel in the light most favorable to Appellants, it is not foreseeable that Appellants would suffer any harm as a proximate cause of Respondent Kassel’s alleged breach of the duty of confidentiality. The basis of Appellants’ claims against Respondent Kassel is that he shared confidential information about Appellants’ potential stucco claims without authorization from Appellants. Appellants allege Respondent Robertson and other Class Action Respondents used Appellants’ confidential information to successfully object to the class settlement in the case pending in Tennessee without obtaining Appellants’ permission to represent them. (R. p.p. 39-40 ¶¶ 35-36.)

The Complaint failed to allege any facts giving rise to an inference that any negligent conduct by Respondent Kassel in providing the Appellants’ name to the Class Action Respondents would result in harm. Even assuming that Respondent Kassel breached his alleged duty of confidentiality and shared Appellants’ information with Class

Action Respondents, there is nothing to show that it was reasonably foreseeable for Respondent Kassel to expect that any of the Class Action Respondents would move forward without the express permission of Appellants. Stated differently, it is not foreseeable that Class Action Respondents would file an objection on the Appellants' behalf without the Appellants' express permission.

One is not charged with foreseeing something which is unpredictable or which could not be expected to happen. *Stone vs. Bethea*, 251 S.C. 157, 161-162, 161 S.E.2d 171, 173 (1968). When a defendant's conduct appears merely to have brought about a series of affairs where an entirely independent and separate agency intervenes to cause the injury, the intervening party is the direct or proximate cause and the former party is only the indirect or remote cause. *Locklear v. Se. Stages*, 193 S.C. 309, 318, 8 S.E.2d 321, 325 (1940). "A defendant cannot be held liable for unpredictable or unexpected consequences." *Mellen*, 377 S.C. at 280, 659 S.E.2d at 246 (citing *Young*, 270 S.C. at 463).

In this case, assuming Respondent Kassel provided Appellants' confidential information to Class Action Respondents, he could not have foreseen that they would use this information and pursue an objection in Tennessee without receiving Appellants' authorization. There is no allegation in the Complaint that Respondent Kassel had any inclination that Appellants had not authorized the Class Action Respondents to proceed in Tennessee on their behalf.

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